Plaintiffs and Appellants

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

## THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA and the BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Three Case No. A128647, Reversing a Judgment Entered by the Superior Court for the County of San Francisco, Case No. CPF-08-508880, The Honorable Curtis E.A. Karnow presiding

## OPENING BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS AND RESPONDENTS (The Petitioners in this Court)

STARR BABCOCK (63473) LAWRENCE C. YEE (84208) RACHEL S. GRUNBERG (197080) OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA 180 Howard Street

### I. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

The Court's Order granting review directed the following issues to be briefed and argued:

- (1) What ground, if any, exists for finding that the information sought by plaintiffs is information that is subject to public disclosure?
- (2) What is the effect, if any, of the representation of confidentiality made by the State Bar to the individuals from whom the information was collected?
- (3) Does the form in which the requested information is regularly maintained affect whether the State Bar must provide the requested information?

### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs Richard Sander, Joe Hicks, and the California First

Amendment Coalition [collectively referred to herein as "Plaintiffs"] insist
that the State Bar of California's admissions database containing the Bar

Exam scores, academic records, and ethnicity of individuals who have
taken the California Bar Exam is a public record, so that they, and anyone
else in the public, are entitled to review that data. Plaintiffs sued the State
Bar of California and the Board of Governors of the State Bar of California
(collectively referred to herein as "State Bar") for declining to provide them
with this information. The trial court properly found that the State Bar's

admissions database is not subject to public disclosure, but the Court of Appeal reversed that finding, necessitating review by this Court.

The State Bar is a judicial branch entity, placed by the voters within Article VI of the California Constitution. It serves as the administrative arm or adjunct to this Court with respect to the admission and discipline of attorneys in California. In these areas, the State Bar's role is expressly acknowledged as an integral part of this Court's judicial function, and its records are essentially the records of this Court.

Like all judicial branch entities, the State Bar is expressly exempted from the wide array of "freedom of information" statutes that apply to the executive and legislative branches of government. This statutory exemption represents a fundamental public policy that, unlike records of the political and partisan branches of government, records held by the judicial branch are not subject to public review beyond the public's historical common law right to access court records. The common law right is far narrower than the widesweeping access created by modern freedom of information statutes. It only applies to the adjudicatory records of open court proceedings and to other official documentation of the judiciary's actions.

This limited right of public access to records held by the judicial branch is recognized as the common law throughout the United States, and is entirely consistent with the difference between the roles of the executive and legislative branches and that of the judicial branch.

The State Bar's admissions database does not officially memorialize or record actions or decisions of the State Bar<sup>1</sup> or of this Court. The scores, academic history, and ethnicity data contained in that database are not subject to public disclosure under either the statutory or common law of this State. Nor did Proposition 59 create any new right for the public to review this data. Proposition 59 "constitutionalized" the pre-existing laws governing access to public records; it did not wipe away all pre-existing common law and replace it with a boundless commandment that every government meeting is open and every document in the possession of government is subject to presumptive public disclosure. The State Bar's admissions database is not a public record under the well established common law right of access to judicial branch records or any other right of public access.

The Court has also inquired as to how the fact this data is collected under a promise of confidentiality affects this analysis. The promise of confidentiality confirms the non-public nature of this data in at least three ways. First, the very fact that confidentiality was promised demonstrates

In point of fact, the State Bar does not make any decisions with respect to admissions or discipline; it merely makes recommendations to this Court. The power to admit a person to practice law, or to discipline or remove a person from practice, belongs solely to this Court. (See *Preston v. State Bar of Cal.* (1946) 28 Cal.2d 643, 650 [171 P.2d 435] ["The recommendation of the Board of Bar Governors is advisory only ... the final determination in all these matters rests with this court, and its powers in that regard are plenary and its judgment conclusive."].)

that this data was never intended to be a matter of public record. Second, the promise of confidentiality and concomitant explanation for why the data is being requested create a right to privacy that would be violated by public disclosure of this data. That is true whether or not the Court accepts Plaintiffs' dubious claim – which contemporary computer science refutes – that data can safely be "de-identified" so that individual applicants' information is not exposed to the public. Third, like all government entities, but especially judicial branch entities, the State Bar has an institutional need to honor its promises. Applicants provided this information after being told the data would be kept confidential, and the State Bar's credibility with the public and future applicants will be deeply harmed if it is forced to break those promises.

Finally, this Court's question about the requested form of the information sought raises another important issue under public records law. Even if the raw data maintained in the State Bar's admissions computers was otherwise a "document" and public record of an official act, which it plainly is not, neither the common law nor any freedom of information statute requires the government to create "anonymized" data for production to the public. To the contrary, it is well established that the right to access public records, whatever its origin, only provides access to records that already exist, and a government agency cannot be required to create new records suitable for production. Because the State Bar does not already

have a compilation of the requested data in the form in which it was requested (i.e. de-identified, recoded, and clustered for anonymity), it cannot be required to make such a record under the guise of a public records request.

Accordingly, as discussed in more detail below, the Court should affirm the trial court's judgment, find that the State Bar admissions database is not a public record, and deny Plaintiffs' request for data from that database.

## III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

# A. THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA'S ROLE IN THE JUDICIAL BRANCH

"The State Bar of California was created by the State Bar Act of 1927. In 1966, the electorate adopted a provision placing the State Bar in the *judicial article* of the state Constitution [Article VI, § 9]." (*In re Attorney Discipline System* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 582, 590 [79 Cal.Rptr.2d 836] [citations omitted] [original italics].) The State Bar acts as "an arm or a branch of the Supreme Court" in connection with attorney admissions. (*Greene v. Zank* (1984) 158 Cal.App.3d 497, 504 [204 Cal.Rptr. 770].)

This Court retains its "preexisting powers to regulate and control the attorney admission and disciplinary system ... at every step." (*Obrien v. Jones* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 40, 48 [96 Cal.Rptr.2d 205].) The State Bar's sole role in the admissions process is that of "an administrative assistant to or

adjunct of" this Court. (Saleeby v. State Bar (1985) 39 Cal.3d 547, 557 [216 Cal.Rptr. 367].) "Admission to the bar is a judicial function...." (In re Attorney Discipline System, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 593 [original italics].) The State Bar is "an integral part of the judicial function" of this Court. (Id. at p. 599.) The State Bar's admissions activity is thus conducted on behalf of, and controlled by, this Court. (Id. at pp. 599-600 ["We have described the bar as a 'public corporation created ... as an administrative arm of this court for the purpose of assisting in matters of admission and discipline of attorneys."].)<sup>2</sup>

# B. COLLECTION OF ADMISSIONS DATA FROM APPLICANTS FOR THE CALIFORNIA BAR EXAMINATION

In order to take the California Bar Examination (the "Bar Exam" or the "Exam"), an applicant must first register with the Committee of Bar Examiners, and then apply to take the Exam. (Appendix of Exhibits of Appellants ["AA"] tab 44, p. 382 ¶¶ 8-9.) When registering with the Committee of Bar Examiners, an applicant signs a broad authorization for

Other courts have recognized that the functions of a state bar in administering bar admissions cannot be divorced from the state supreme court's exercise of its inherent power to license attorneys. (*Hoover v. Ronwin* (1984) 466 U.S. 558, 570-574 [104 S.Ct. 1989] [actions of the Bar in admissions cannot be separated from the Supreme Court's exercise of its sovereign judicial powers]; *Bates v. State Bar of Arizona* (1977) 433 U.S. 350, 360-61 [97 S.Ct. 2691]; see also *Levanti v. Tippen* (S.D. Cal. 1984) 585 F.Supp. 499, 504 [State Bar functioning as an arm of the California Supreme Court in attorney admissions is "protected by the same cloak of absolute judicial immunity worn by that tribunal."] [emphasis added].)

the State Bar to collect "any information, files, or records requested" about him or her. This data is provided "in connection with the processing of this registration":

I hereby authorize educational or other institutions or agencies to release to the Committee of Bar Examiners and the Office of Admissions of the State Bar of California any information, files or records requested <u>in connection with the processing of this registration</u>.

(AA tab 45 [p. 396] (emphasis added).) The Bar Exam application requires a similar authorization, and includes a grant of limited permission to republish certain data to the applicant's law school:

I hereby authorize educational or other institutions or agencies to release to the Committee of Bar Examiners (Committee) any information, files, transcripts or records requested by the Committee in connection with the processing of this application.

I further authorize the Committee to release information regarding my application to take the bar examination and my bar examination scores and pass/fail status to the law school to which I have been or will be allocated for purposes of qualifying to take the California Bar Examination.

(AA tab 46 [p. 404] (emphasis added).)

Each applicant also submits a moral character application. The moral character application requires an authorization, which provides, in relevant part:

I further authorize all educational institutions and testing organizations to release to the Committee any information, files or records pertaining to me requested by the Committee in connection with any studies conducted by the Committee regarding the admission process.

(AA tab 103 [p. 1259] (emphasis added).)

Finally, applicants are requested, but not required, to fill out a confidential survey of gender and ethnicity which contains a representation regarding the limited purpose for collecting that information:

The following information is to be furnished by each applicant as part of the application process. The Committee of Bar Examiners is gathering this data to assist in the continuing evaluation of the examination. This information will be treated in a confidential manner and will be used only for research purposes. It will not be retained by the Committee as part of your application.

(AA tab 47 [p. 408] (emphasis added).)

## C. THE REQUEST AT ISSUE

Beginning in 2006, Plaintiffs asked the State Bar to provide them with 16 fields of data, including ethnicity, academic record, and raw, scaled and total Bar Exam scores, for every person who applied to take the Bar Examination from 1972-2007. (AA tabs 6-7 [pp. 43-52], 13 [pp. 148-151], and 16-17 [pp. 165-202].) Plaintiffs seek this data for Sander's study of admissions practices of "elite" law schools,<sup>3</sup> and claim that the data can be

Professor Sander is a proponent of what he calls the "mis-match" theory, wherein he argues that "aggressive racial preferences that many law schools use in admissions" lead "[u]pper-and-middle tier law schools ... to admit black students whose LSAT scores and undergraduate grades are significantly lower than those of their non-Hispanic white classmates" such that "blacks and Hispanics are likely to struggle to keep up with the instruction aimed at the majority of the students who were admitted with higher academic credentials" and thus "blacks and Hispanics get lower grades and actually learn less than they would at a less elite school." (Sander's "Proposal for analyses of state bar data", AA tab 6 [pp. 43-45].)

"clustered" so that individual applicants are not identifiable. (*Ibid.*) As Plaintiffs explain in their most recent request, they believe such manipulation of the data is a "key step[] that will ensure that individual identities are not jeopardized." (AA tab 53 [pp. 530-31].) The request provides detailed instructions for the substantial manipulation and recoding required to cluster the data, including:

Ethnicity: The State Bar maintains self-reported ethnicity data in eight categories for 67% of the applicants in question. (AA tab 44 [p. 386 ¶ 29].) Plaintiffs require the data to be re-coded to four categories (White, Black, Latino, and Other). (AA tab 53 [p. 534].)

Law School: The State Bar maintains text fields stating the law schools where each student was reported to attend. Some records have more than one such field. (AA tab 44 [p. 386 ¶ 30].) Plaintiffs request this data be substantially re-coded to help hide the identity of individuals from small schools, out of state schools, and non-traditional paths to the Bar. Plaintiffs proposed 14 different categories of schools to be re-coded in this fashion. (AA tab 53 [pp. 536-41].)

**Transfer Student**: The State Bar does not maintain data on whether someone is a transfer student. (AA tab 44 [p. 386 ¶ 31].) Plaintiffs want the State Bar to create new data based on the number of law schools attended to indicate whether someone is a transfer student. (AA tab 53 [pp. 534, 536-37].)

Year of Law School Graduation: The State Bar maintains this data as a numeric field for 86% of the applicants in question. (AA tab 44 [p. 387 ¶ 32].) Plaintiffs requested it re-coded and clustered into eight bands (1972-1981, 1982-1986, 1987-1990, 1991-1993, 1994-1996, 1997-1999, 2000-2002, and 2003-2007). (AA tab 53 [p. 534].)

Bar Passage: The State Bar maintains data for each exam taken indicating whether a person took, failed, or passed the examination. (AA tab 44 [p. 387 ¶ 33].) Plaintiffs requested the State Bar to analyze this data and create a "bar passage" code to show that an applicant never passed the bar (0), passed on the first attempt (1), or passed on a later attempt (2). (AA tab 53 [p. 534].)

Most importantly, once analysis, calculation and coding has been done on these five factors, *Plaintiffs' request requires the overall data to be analyzed again* to determine whether there are any "cells" of four people or less, i.e. whether any four or fewer people share all the same data with respect to the above categories. If such cells exist, Plaintiffs proposed a range of possible additional clustering techniques *for changing the data until no such small cells exist.* (AA tab 53 [pp. 531-32, 536-41].)

Plaintiffs' request therefore demanded that the State Bar select fields from its general database, analyze them, and re-code and manipulate them

Plaintiffs' clustering theory is that if five or more people share the same information, it cannot be inferred who is who. (AA tab 53 [p. 531].)

to create new data that is "clustered" in a way that Plaintiffs claim<sup>5</sup> will prevent the identification of any individual persons.

In June 2007, the Committee of Bar Examiners denied Sander's 2006 request. (AA tab 44 [p. 385 ¶ 20].) The State Bar's Board of Governors concurred after receiving public comment on the proposal.<sup>6</sup> (AA tab 44 [p. 384 ¶ 21].) Plaintiffs simply asked for the data again. (AA tab 44 [p. 384 ¶ 22].) The State Bar denied those renewed requests in June 2008. (AA tab 44 [p. 384 ¶ 25].)

### D. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Plaintiffs filed their petition to compel production of the admissions data in the San Francisco Superior Court. (AA tab 3.) After a bench trial, Judge Curtis Karnow determined that the admissions database is: (1) not a public record subject to presumptive disclosure under the common law; and also (2) not subject to presumptive disclosure under Proposition 59. (AA tab 124.)

As discussed below, recent research has disproven the prevailing assumption that data can be "anonymized" in this fashion while still remaining useful for research purposes. (Ohm, *Broken Promises of Privacy: Responding to the Surprising Failure of Anonymization* (2010) 57 UCLA L. Rev. 1701.)

Numerous persons opposed the provision of this confidential applicant information to Sander and other researchers. While all of the comments are not in the record below, some of the more substantive are included at AA tab 51 pages 490-512. The same concerns were expressed by groups filing amicus curiae letters in support of this review being granted in this matter.

The Court of Appeal reversed, finding that access to State Bar documents is not governed by the established common law principles applicable to the judicial branch, but instead finding, without citing authority or specifying the test it was applying, that the State Bar admissions database is subject to an undefined "long standing common law presumption of access." The Court of Appeal ordered that the matter be remanded for determination of whether some countervailing policy or fact prevents disclosure. This Court granted the State Bar's Petition for Review on August 25, 2011.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

- A. NO GROUND EXISTS FOR FINDING THAT THE INFORMATION SOUGHT BY PLAINTIFFS IS SUBJECT TO PUBLIC DISCLOSURE
  - 1. No statutory right of public access applies to the State Bar

Inspired by the 1966 federal Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), California has enacted numerous statutes in the last half-century to provide members of the public with access to a wide array of documents in the possession of the executive and legislative branches of government. None of these statutes, however, apply to the judicial branch of government. This exemption of the judiciary from modern "freedom of information" statutes recognizes a fundamental difference between the judicial branch and the other two branches of government.

The executive and legislative branches are political, policy making branches of government. They act on their own initiative, create and change the laws and regulations for society, and make discretionary policy choices among the wide array of constitutionally permissible government actions, which in our democratic form of government may sometimes be based on partisanship and the interests of particular constituent groups. These two branches of government need to be transparent so that voters can hold their elected representatives responsible for their policy choices. As this Court has recognized, the California Public Records Act ("CPRA") is designed to promote such accountability in government because "access permits checks against the arbitrary exercise of official power and secrecy in the political process." (CBS, Inc. v. Block (1986) 42 Cal.3d 646, 651 [230 Cal.Rptr. 362].)<sup>7</sup>

In contrast, the judicial branch does not make political decisions or advance the partisan agendas of judges or constituent groups. It does not interject itself into controversies, or initiate review of matters on its own

A similar policy of executive transparency for the sake of accountability is found in the California Environmental Quality Act, which requires an Environmental Impact Report that acts as "a document of accountability" so that "the public will know the basis on which its responsible officials either approve or reject environmentally significant action, and the public, being duly informed, can respond accordingly to action with which it disagrees." (*Laurel Heights Improvement Assn. v. Regents of University of California* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 376, 392 [253 Cal.Rptr. 426].)

initiative. Instead, it provides a neutral forum for all persons equally to seek adjudication of disputes (civil or criminal), and administers the law in an even handed, unbiased manner. In this way, it is the exact opposite of the other two branches.<sup>8</sup>

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