19

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

RICHARD SANDER, JOE HICKS, and the CALIFORNIA FIRST AMENDMENT COALITION, *Plaintiffs and Appellants (Respondents Herein)*,

STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA and the BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA, Defendants and Respondents (Petitioners Herein).

v.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Three, Appeal No. A128647, on Appeal from the Superior Court in and for the County of San Francisco, Case No. CPF-08-508880, Hon. Curtis E. A. Karnow

SUPREME COURT FILED

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

NOV 3 0 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP

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

D. Sander's Original Proposal to Collaborate with the State Bar and its Rejection by Defendants

Professor Richard Sander ("Sander") is an economist and professor of law, and a national authority on legal education, the legal profession, and affirmative action. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0382-83; Ex. 79, p. 0976.) Sander approached the State Bar in 2006 about collaborating on research regarding the large and persistent gap in bar passage rates among racial and ethnic groups. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0383.) Racial disparities in bar passage rates have long been a source of concern for the legal profession and the State Bar. (AA Ex. 48, p. 0410; Ex. 51, pp. 0467-68; Ex. 79, p. 0976.) The first-time bar passage rate for black bar applicants tends to lag behind the white passage rate by thirty percentage points. (*Ibid.*) Similar but less severe disparities exist for Hispanic/Latino bar applicants. (AA Ex. 23, p. 0225.)

The gap is not explained by lack of access to better law schools. (AA Ex. 67, p. 0706.) The disparity is explained in part by differing levels of preparation prior to entering law school, but a large gap remains even after controlling for entering credentials. However, the State Bar has found that the disparity disappears when law school performance is taken into account. (AA Ex. 67, p. 0718.) The critical problem is that minority law students are much more likely to receive low law school grades than their white peers. (AA Ex. 67, pp. 0707, 0731.)

Sander hypothesizes that this disparity in law school grades and bar passage is exacerbated by racial preferences in law school admissions. (AA Ex. 79, pp. 0976-77.) Sander theorizes that the benefits of attending a higher-tiered law school are overshadowed by the negative effects of mismatch, and that these mismatch effects accompany any aggressive law school preference program—whether racially-based or tied to other types of student characteristics (e.g., preferences for older students, students with disabilities, or students who are children of alumni). (AA Ex. 79, pp. 0976-77.)

In order to fully test the mismatch hypothesis, a large and comprehensive data set is required. Sander determined that California was

the best jurisdiction for an analysis of these racial disparities. The State Bar of California is surpassed only by New York in the number of applicants sitting for the bar annually; it has exceptionally great racial diversity among bar applicants; and California is one of only a few states that collects detailed data on bar takers, making it one of the few places where a careful evaluation of the mismatch hypothesis is possible. (AA Ex. 3, p. 0009.)

In early 2006, Sander consulted with Dr. Stephen Klein ("Klein"), the State Bar's psychometrician and author of Defendants' statistical studies and analyses. (AA Ex. 79, p. 0979; Ex. 57, pp. 0593-611; Ex. 58, pp. 0612-18.) Klein, Sander and other scholars developed a collaborative research proposal, which was presented to the Committee of Bar Examiners. (AA Ex. 44, pp. 0383-84; Ex. 48, pp. 0409-14; Ex. 79, p. 0979.) The proposal specified that all data analysis would be conducted by Klein and another consultant under contract with the State Bar, using the same reporting standards as Defendants' other studies, but with methodological input from Sander and others. (AA Ex. 48, p. 0414.) The proposal expressly provided that "individual applicant data will not be revealed to anyone." (*Id.*)

The Committee voted unanimously to advance the proposal for full consideration. (AA Ex. 44, pp. 0383-84; Ex. 79, p. 0979.) But support for the proposal began to erode after the Committee of Bar Examiners met with representatives of several California law schools who serve on the "Law School Council" of the State Bar. (AA Ex. 3, pp. 0011-12.) Ultimately, State Bar staff sent a memo to the Subcommittee on Examinations recommending that the research proposal be rejected. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0384; Ex. 50, pp. 0420-464; Ex 51, pp. 0466-526.) The Committee of Bar Examiners and the Board of Governors rejected the proposal. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0384.)

The decisions, and some public opposition, may have been the result of mischaracterizations of the proposal by State Bar staff. In its notice soliciting public comment, staff characterized the proposal as a request for the "release of confidential bar examination applicant data." (AA Ex. 52,

p. 0528,) Its memo to the Board of Governors used similar terms. (AA Ex. 51, p. 0466 [describing proposal as "a request" for a "release" of "confidential" data regarding bar examination applicants].) Staff failed to explain that the study would not involve the disclosure of any individual data, let alone the disclosure of identifiable data. (AA Ex. 51, pp. 0466-526; Ex. 52, pp. 0528.) However, as noted above, the proposal was explicit that the data would be accessed only by the State Bar's own data analysts. (AA Ex. 48, p. 0414.) In its memorandum, staff also asserted that the proposal had been rejected by the Committee of Bar Examiners because it "would be a significant departure from past research practices." (AA Ex. 51, p. 0471.) In fact, as discussed, the proposal was entirely consistent with prior research studies conducted by the State Bar, except that Sander and other researchers would have input on the methodology for the data analysis. (AA Ex. 48, p. 0414.)

E. The Coalition's Requests for Records and Defendants' Rejection of Those Requests

After the State Bar rejected the collaborative research proposal, Sander submitted a request for the release of an anonymized version of the records in the admissions database. (AA Ex. 13, pp. 0148-151.) Defendants initially asserted that Sander's request failed to address putative privacy concerns previously raised, but when Sander addressed those concerns they rejected his request anyway. (AA Ex. 3, p. 0014-15; Ex. 14, p. 0153; Ex. 15, pp. 0162-63.)

On May 29, 2008, Sander sent a new, narrower request, designed to eliminate any remaining privacy concerns. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0384; Ex. 53, pp. 530-65.) Respondent Joe Hicks ("Hicks") joined Sander's May 29, 2008 request. (AA Ex. 44, pp. 0383-84; Ex. 53, pp. 0530-65.) The new request sought de-identified information from the admissions database, specifically applicant ethnicity, law school, year of law school graduation, whether the applicant was a transfer student (if feasible), bar examination

scores, whether the applicant passed, law school GPA, LSAT score, and undergraduate GPA. (AA Ex. 53, pp. 0534-35.)

On January 8, 2008, the California First Amendment Coalition ("FAC") submitted a request to inspect or receive copies of the same data requested by Sander in his first request. (AA Ex. 3, p. 0016; Ex. 17, pp. 0201-02.) Defendants denied FAC's request. (AA Ex. 3, pp. 0016-17.) On June 3, 2008, FAC submitted a new request seeking the same records sought by Sander and Hicks in their revised request dated May 29, 2008. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0384; Ex. 54, pp. 0566-68.)

The requests asked that the records be redacted and organized to protect the privacy of applicants whose information is contained in the records, and included a proposed mechanism to cluster certain types of information so the records could not be used to identify individual applicants. (AA Ex. 44; p. 0385; Ex. 53, pp. 0529-65.) They explained how the suggested privacy protocols would work, allowed flexibility in the approach to providing the requested records, and included an offer to pay for a third-party data confidentiality expert of the Bar's choosing. (AA Ex. 53, pp. 0529-65.) They also included offers to pay all reasonable costs incurred in complying with the requests. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0385; Ex. 53, p. 0532; Ex. 3, p. 0016.) Although the requests suggested how to deidentify the records, they did not *require* the Defendants to take any specific approach to de-identification. (AA Ex. 53, pp. 0530-33; Ex. 54, p. 0567.)

On June 12, 2008, Defendants sent a letter to Sander and Hicks denying their request for the release of a redacted version of the Admissions Database. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0385; Ex. 55, pp. 0569-71.) Defendants never formally responded to FAC's request, resulting in a de facto denial. (AA Ex. 44, p. 0385.)

F. Public Agencies Routinely Disclose De-Identified Data About Individuals

In the course of conducting research on a broad range of higher education issues, Sander's research team has obtained de-identified individual-level student records from more than one hundred educational institutions around the country, including the University of California. (AA Ex. 3, p. 0022-23; Ex. 26, pp. 0279-84.)

Federal and state governments release individual-level data from birth certificates, death certificates, health records, criminal arrests, tax returns, social security payments, home mortgages, and juvenile criminal defendants, among other things. (AA Ex. 93, pp. 1147-49.) California state agencies routinely release individual-level data derived from hospital records, criminal arrest records, domestic violence complaints, and drug and alcohol rehabilitation programs. (AA Ex. 93, pp. 1145-47, 1149.)

The public benefits, indirectly but profoundly, from the release and analysis of administrative agency data. (AA Ex. 93, pp. 1146-47.) Among other benefits, scientific research using public data from such sources often leads to effective public policy. (*Id.*)

G. The Litigation and the Decisions of the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal

Case law indicated that the Supreme Court might have exclusive jurisdiction in this matter, and Defendants took the position that it did. (AA Ex. 3, p. 0023.) The Coalition therefore originally brought this action as a petition for writ of mandamus or other extraordinary relief in the Supreme Court. The Court denied the petition without prejudice in an order filed on September 17, 2008. The Court indicated that it did not have exclusive jurisdiction in this matter, stating that the petition was "denied without prejudice to re-filing in an appropriate court."

The Coalition then filed in the Superior Court its Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate, or in the Alternative, Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief. (AA Ex. 3, pp. 0003-32.) The proceedings in the

Superior Court were bifurcated into two phases by a stipulation of the parties that was adopted as an order of the Superior Court. (AA Ex. 38, pp. 0334-39.) Phase One addressed whether the State Bar is subject to a right of public access that applies to the requested records, and hence "has a legal duty to provide the records that have been requested." (*Id.*) The stipulation and order provided that "[f]or the purposes of analyzing this duty at the Phase One stage only, the parties will not raise any issues concerning the personal privacy of any person." (*Id.*) Phase Two would address whether disclosure of the records violates the privacy of bar applicants or imposes an undue burden that would justify denying or limiting disclosure. (*Id.*) The Superior Court found that the State Bar is not subject to any public access right, and therefore did not reach Phase Two. (AA Ex. 124, pp. 1630-35, Ex. 125, pp. 1651-54.)

The Court of Appeal reversed. It recognized the common law right of access, distinct from the right of access to records of adjudicatory proceedings under the First Amendment, and held that it was applicable to the records in the admissions database. (*Sander v. State Bar, supra*, 196 Cal.App.4th at pp. 614-629.) It did not reach the questions of whether Proposition 59 provides a right of access, nor did it resolve whether the Coalition's requests would entail the creation of a "new record" or whether the need to do so would relieve Defendants of their obligation to comply with the right of access. (*Id.*, at p. 628.) Defendants' petition for rehearing was denied.

III. THE PUBLIC HAS A RIGHT OF ACCESS TO DE-IDENTIFIED RECORDS FROM THE ADMISSIONS DATABASE

A. The Public Has a Right of Access to the Requested Records under the California Constitution

Defendants' argument that they are exempt from public scrutiny proceeds from the premise that "no statutory right of public access applies to the State Bar." (OB 12.) In fact, Article I, section 3(b) of the California Constitution ("Proposition 59") provides a right of access applicable to

Defendants, and there is no statutory prohibition against access to the requested records. Defendants assert that Proposition 59 is a meaningless "constitutionalization" of existing rights of access. (OB 31-35.) Their interpretation is contradicted by the plain language of Proposition 59, by all evidence of the intent of the voters who enacted it, and by the decisions interpreting it.

1. The Plain Language of Proposition 59 Creates a Right of Access Applicable to the State Bar

The language of Proposition 59 could not be clearer: "The people have the right of access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business, and, therefore, the meetings of public bodies and the writings of public officials and agencies shall be open to public scrutiny." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(1), emphasis added.) The plain language of Proposition 59 indisputably establishes a public right of access to the writings of public officials and agencies—including Defendants'.

Defendants avoid addressing the actual language of Proposition 59, ignoring the first principle of constitutional construction: "In interpreting a constitution's provisions, our paramount task is to ascertain the intent of those who enacted it. To determine that intent, we look first to the language of the constitutional text, giving the words their ordinary meaning. If the language is clear, there is no need for construction." (*Professional Engineers in California Government v. Kempton* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1016, 1037 (*Professional Engineers*), citation and internal quotations omitted.)

Proposition 59 provides that "the people have a right of access." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(1).) "Access" is "a means of approaching . . . communicating with, or making use of" (American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 4th ed. (2000).) Courts have historically denominated constitutional, statutory, and common law rights to obtain public records as "access rights" or "rights of access." (See, e.g., NBC Subsidiary (KNBC-TV), Inc. v. Superior Court (1999) 20 Cal.4th

1178, 1210 (NBC Subsidiary); KNSD Channels 7/39 v. Superior Court (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 1200, 1202-1203.)

Proposition 59 applies that right of access to "the writings of public officials and agencies." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(1).) As used in Proposition 59, the term "writing" means recorded data, *i.e.*, "[s]omething written, especially: Meaningful letters or characters that constitute readable matter . . . " (American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 4th ed. (2000).) Furthermore, different provisions of the law that relate to the same subject matter are *in pari materia*, and must be construed consistently with one another to the extent possible. (*City of Huntington Beach v. Board of Administration* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 462, 468; *People v. La Barre* (1924) 193 Cal. 388, 391.) The Public Records Act, which also addresses access to public records, provides a broad definition of the term "writings" that clearly embraces the requested records. (Gov't Code § 6252, subd. (f). See also Gov't Code § 9072, subd. (d); Evid. Code § 250.)

Thus, the plain language of Proposition 59 establishes an independent right of access to the records to which it applies.

2. The Right of Access Created by Proposition 59 Is Consistent with Its Other Provisions

Defendants have argued, and the Superior Court concluded, that "if Proposition 59 truly expanded the universe of documents to be disclosed to all papers in the possession of the government, parts of the Proposition which govern the construction of extant law would be at best surplusage." (AA Ex. 124, p. 1638.) The asserted inconsistency does not exist.¹

Defendants also previously argued that if the California Constitution creates a right of access then "there would be no point in continuing more limited independent rights of access." (RB 31, fn. 16.) However, they do not raise this issue in their opening brief, and hence have abandoned it. (*Julian v. Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co.* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 747, 761 fn. 4; *People v. Lewis* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 415, 536 fn. 30.)

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